2000

Wilson Supply, Inc. dba Pro Power Equipment Co. v. Fradan Manufacturing Corp. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal under Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1996). This is a case of first impression in Utah Appellate Courts interpreting the statute, Equipment Repurchase from Retail Dealers, Chapter 14a, Title 13, Utah Code Annotated (as amended, 1995).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Question 1

Did the district court err in law by failing to grant summary judgment and award attorney fees and costs to Appellant (FRADAN) under Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-7 (1995) by failing to rule that Appellee (WILSON SUPPLY) is a wholesaler within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(7) (as amended, 1995) and, therefore, not entitled to repurchase of goods by a manufacturer (FRADAN) under Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2 (as amended, 1995)?

Standard of Review: Review of a district court's grant of summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is a question of law. No deference is given to the trial court's conclusions of law or its decision to grant summary judgment and both are reviewed for "correctness." *In re Gonzalez*, 1 P.3d 1074, (Utah 2000); *Beynon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge # 1743, Benevolent & Protective Order of Elks*, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993); *Ron Case Roofing & Asphalt Paving, Inc. v. Blomquist*, 773 P.2d 1382, 1385 (Utah 1989). In a case involving statutory construction and interpretation, the Appellate Court accords the trial court's conclusions of law no deference, but reviews them for correctness. *Beynon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge # 1743, Benevolent & Protective Order of Elks*, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993); *Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort*, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039-1040 (Utah 1991); *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State*, 779 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989).

Citations to the Record: These issues were preserved and argued in the trial court throughout the entire proceedings. A few of the obvious citations are: R. 002, ¶ 6 and 8; R. 123, ¶ 10; R. 184, ¶ 7; R. 167; 234, ¶ 1; R. 193, ¶ 1-3; R. 202; and R. 244.

Question 2

Did the trial court err in law in its interpretation of Utah Code Ann. §§ 13-14a-2(1) and 13-14a-9(3) by ordering a manufacturer (FRADAN) to repurchase equipment from a wholesaler (WILSON SUPPLY) after WILSON SUPPLY sold all of its retail stores?

Standard of Review: In a case involving statutory construction and interpretation, the Appellate Court accords the trial court's conclusions of law no deference, but reviews

them for correctness. *Beynon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge # 1743, Benevolent & Protective Order of Elks*, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993); *Clover v. Snowbird Ski Resort*, 808 P.2d 1037, 1039-1040 (Utah 1991); *Blue Cross & Blue Shield v. State*, 779 P.2d 634, 636 (Utah 1989).

Question 3

Are the trial court's findings of fact that WILSON SUPPLY was a "retailer" for purposes of this case and that a third party (Cantrell) was the wholesaler of FRADAN goods to WILSON SUPPLY clearly erroneous and improperly based upon an unlitigated discovery dispute?

Standard of Review: A finding of fact by the trial court, whether based upon oral or written evidence, will only be disturbed on appeal if insufficient evidence exists in the record and the finding can be considered "clearly erroneous." Utah R.Civ.P. 52(a); The trial court's findings are clearly erroneous only if the ruling "contradicts the great weight of evidence or if [the] court is left with a 'definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made.'" *Sevy v. Sec. Title Co. of So. Utah*, 902 P.2d 629, 635 (Utah 1995). The appellate court may regard a finding as clearly erroneous only if the finding is without adequate evidentiary support or induced by an erroneous view of the law. *State v. Walker*, 743 P.2d 191, 193 (Utah 1987).

Citations to the Record: Neither the Court nor WILSON SUPPLY entered formal findings of fact or conclusions of law. The record is very unclear and cryptic (Appendix C). However, nothing in the record suggests WILSON SUPPLY purchased any FRADAN

product through a distributor named “Cantrell” as found by the court (R. 281, p. 83, lines 19 and 23 and p. 84, line 4). The court’s findings that WILSON SUPPLY was a retailer for purposes of the buy back law is found in R. 281, p. 85, lines 2-5, is based improperly upon the Judge’s view of what the Legislature intended. These findings are based upon an incorrect view of the law in that WILSON SUPPLY was admittedly a wholesaler. See R. 002, ¶ 6 and 8; R. 123, ¶ 10; R. 184, ¶ 7; R. 167; 234, ¶ 1; R. 193, ¶ 1-3; R. 202; and R. 244.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

The entire text of Chapter 14a of Title 13 of the Utah Code Ann. (as amended, 1995) is relevant and determinative and is attached as the addendum of this brief. However, the following sub-sections of Chapter 14a are most relevant and determinative.

1. Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(7)(b):

(7) “Wholesaler” as an entity’s business or as the context requires may mean:

(b) a dealer, as defined in Subsection (1), who in addition to retailing distributes equipment at the wholesale level

2. Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2(1):

(1) Upon termination of all sales agreements in which the dealer has agreed to offer the products of the manufacturer or wholesaler for retail sale and to stock wholegoods and parts inventories as may or may not be required by the manufacturer or wholesaler, the retailer is entitled to payment or credit from the manufacturer or wholesaler for all new and unsold wholegoods and parts inventories held by the dealer on the date the agreement was terminated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a denial of Appellant's (FRADAN's) motion for summary judgment and an order granting Appellee's motion for summary judgment, following an evidentiary hearing which was narrowly focused on the issue of "whether Wilson Supply is a dealer or a wholesaler within the legal meaning of U.C.A. 13-14a-1, et seq." (R. 250). The Honorable Judge David Young presided at the initial summary judgment hearing on March 24, 2000 and at the follow-up hearing on September 19, 2000. At the conclusion of the hearing on September 19, 2000, Judge Young spontaneously ruled from the bench and concluded as a matter of law that Appellee is a dealer under Chapter 14a of Title 13 of the Utah Code Annotated. (Appendices A and C). This ruling was reduced to an order by Appellee's counsel, signed by Judge Young on October 31, 2001 (Appendix B, R. 263). This matter is, therefore, before the court on a review of the entry of summary judgment.

Statement of Relevant Facts

As alleged in Appellee's Complaint, this case arises out of an unwritten business relationship between Appellant (FRADAN), who manufactures lawn and garden equipment (R. 002, ¶ 7), and Appellee (WILSON SUPPLY), who is a wholesale distributor of lawn and garden equipment (R. 002, ¶ 6 and R. 195, ¶ 14). The business relationship extended from about October 1996 through December 1997. WILSON SUPPLY "agreed to sell at retail, and or distribute at the wholesale level, those items supplied to it by FRADAN as a manufacturer." (Plaintiff's Complaint, R. 002, ¶ 8). During this entire time period

WILSON SUPPLY owned and operated three retail stores (Pro Power) in Utah, Idaho, and Colorado (R. 227, ¶ 10). WILSON SUPPLY was in the business of both retailing and wholesaling utility light industrial equipment, yard and garden equipment, and associated repair parts (R. 002, ¶ 6). All of WILSON SUPPLY's retailing was conducted through its three Pro Power stores. From about November 1996 through December 1997, FRADAN shipped several items of lawn and garden equipment and parts directly to WILSON SUPPLY at its Murray warehouse headquarters at WILSON's request (Appendix D, Exhibit 8). No equipment or parts were shipped by FRADAN to any of the retail stores in Colorado, Idaho, or Utah. All written documents and correspondence were between WILSON SUPPLY and FRADAN (R. 133, 135, 137, 138, 140, 142, 144 through 159, 204, and 206; and Appendix D, Exhibit 8). WILSON SUPPLY's official letterhead identifies it as a "Distributor of Outdoor Power Equipment since 1935" (R. 206). It was also identified as a wholesaler in the *Dunn & Bradstreet* business listings (R. 211, ¶ 3). WILSON SUPPLY was further identified as a wholesaler in the Salt Lake City Yellow Pages while Pro Power was identified as a Retailer (Appendix D, Exhibit 5). Although WILSON SUPPLY distributed most of the FRADAN equipment to its three retail stores for retail sale, it also "distributed a portion of the Fradan Inventory at the wholesale level" (Appendix B or R. 184, ¶ 7).

On about October 23, 1997, WILSON SUPPLY mailed a letter to FRADAN, stating it wanted to terminate its relationship with FRADAN (R. 206). On about February 25, 1998, Brett Wilson, owner of WILSON SUPPLY, sent a letter to FRADAN using Pro Power

letterhead for the first time in the parties' business relationship (R. 170). The three Pro Power retail stores listed on the Pro Power letterhead have a different address from WILSON SUPPLY, although the Utah store is located apparently next to WILSON SUPPLY (R. 170 and 206). The parties have never disputed that WILSON SUPPLY acts as a wholesale distributor and, prior to 1999, also did retail sales business through its d.b.a. Pro Power (Appendix B and R. 184, ¶ 7).

WILSON SUPPLY sold Pro Power and all of its retail stores sometime in 1999 to a non-party (Horizons, Inc.), but WILSON SUPPLY retained the unsold equipment it originally purchased from FRADAN (R. 227, ¶ 9). FRADAN argued at the trial court that this new fact alone requires dismissal in that only retail dealers may assert a right of repurchase of equipment under Utah law (R. 195, ¶¶ 14-16; R. 199; and R. 247).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case of first impression in Utah regarding the interpretation and application of a Utah statute relating to "Equipment Repurchase from Retail Dealers," Chapter 14a of Title 13, Utah Code Annotated. The Court made several errors by failing to apply the plain meaning and express wording of the statute. The most crucial part of the statute is the definition of "Wholesaler" in Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(7)(b) (as amended, 1995), which essentially states that a retail dealer who also distributes some equipment at the wholesaler level, is considered a "Wholesaler." Under Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2(1), retail dealers may require either a wholesaler or a manufacturer to repurchase its product. However,

nothing in the entire statute allows a “Wholesaler” to require a manufacturer to repurchase its Wholesaler inventory. Despite this clear statutory language and WILSON SUPPLY’s admissions in its complaint (R. 002, ¶ 6 and 8) and on summary judgment (R. 123, ¶ 10 and 184, ¶ 7) that it is a wholesaler and a retail dealer, the trial court found “as a matter of law” that WILSON SUPPLY, d.b.a. Pro Power is a retailer for purpose of requiring FRADAN to repurchase equipment (Appendix B, R. 264). It reached this conclusion by conceiving of what it believed was the policy intended by the Legislature (R. 281 p. 84, lines 23-25) instead of applying the clear wording of the statute.

This ruling is even more perplexing given the fact that Pro Power was sold in 1999, prior to the motions for summary judgment. Therefore, there is no Pro Power or Wilson Supply, d.b.a. Pro Power, and no “retail dealer” entitled to repurchase of equipment. The only entity left is WILSON SUPPLY, a wholesaler(if it yet remains), and it holds the equipment purchased from FRADAN. The court again incorrectly applied the statute and held that a “Wholesaler” was entitled to have equipment re-purchased from a manufacturer. FRADAN argued strenuously that the right of repurchase under the statute lies solely with a “retail dealer” and a “Wholesaler” never has a right of re-purchase. Nonetheless, the court ignored these arguments and held that under Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-9(3), FRADAN, a manufacturer, must repurchase from WILSON SUPPLY, a wholesaler.

It is very unclear from the record whether the district court relied upon Findings of Fact in that its final determination that WILSON SUPPLY is a retailer was made as “a matter

of law (Appendix B, R. 264). To the extent any material findings of fact were determined by the judge, such findings are clearly erroneous and were based upon an abuse of discretion when the court unjustly and without notice sanctioned FRADAN based upon an unlitigated discovery dispute. The trial court displayed usually hostility and anger towards FRADAN regarding a discovery dispute of which the parties agreed was simply not relevant at the summary judgment stage and was the subject of an unheard, but pending Motion for Protective Order filed by FRADAN of which the parties and the court had previously agreed to put on hold because the summary judgment would moot the discovery dispute. WILSON SUPPLY's attorney further urged the court to entertain a "home-state bias" to sway the judge from a clear application of the statute (R. 280, pp. 11-12; R. 281, pp. 4,10, 11,16, 31, 35, and 78). The result was that the Court expressly made findings, not based upon the record, but out of punitive motives for FRADAN's alleged failure to answer discovery (Appendix C, R. 82-86). Some of the findings include that FRADAN sold its product and dealt directly with three separate retail dealers in Idaho, Colorado, and Utah (Appendix C, R. 281, p. 82, lines 19-24) and that a non-party (Cantrell) distributed to WILSON SUPPLY (Appendix C, R. 281, p. 82, lines 13-16; p. 83, lines 19-24; and p. 84, lines 3-6).

The court's decision shows that all findings were based upon a hasty, hostile, and biased reaction by the Judge rather than a detached, neutral decision-maker. FRADAN never even had an opportunity to litigate or obtain a ruling on its motion for a protective order and WILSON never filed a motion to compel the discovery in question. The actions by the

district court, as evidenced in its bench ruling, are sufficient to leave this court with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake was made justifying a complete reversal or remand for a full trial on the merits.

Apart from the factual disputes relating to pricing and whether a third non-party was a distributor in Utah, the fact remains that WILSON SUPPLY, as a business entity, is just what its name indicates: a wholesaler distributor of lawn and garden equipment and parts. The company's only retail business was sold and WILSON SUPPLY, as a wholesaler, retained the FRADAN products. Based upon these undisputed facts and the plain meaning of the statute, summary judgment and attorney fees should be entered in favor of FRADAN.

POINT I

WILSON SUPPLY IS A WHOLESALER UNDER U.C.A. § 13-14A-1(7)(b)

The initial threshold issue in this case is whether WILSON SUPPLY must be treated as a "wholesaler" or "retail dealer" as defined in the statute. During the entire summary judgment proceedings, including the narrowly-focused evidentiary hearing, FRADAN continued to emphasize that the admitted fact that WILSON SUPPLY was a wholesaler, in addition to acting as a retail dealer through its d.b.a. Pro Power, required the court to conclude as a matter of law that FRADAN was not required to repurchase equipment from WILSON SUPPLY under Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2(1) (as amended, 1995). The trial court incorrectly concluded that WILSON SUPPLY, as either a wholesaler or retail dealer, was entitled to the protection afforded to a retail dealer.

A. Statutory Construction and Interpretation:

The trial court erred because it failed to apply well-accepted rules of statutory construction and interpretation. The first rule is that a court must first “examine the statute’s plain language and resort to other methods of statutory interpretation only if the language is ambiguous.” *Matrix Funding Corporation v. Auditing Division of the Utah State Tax Commission*, 868 P.2d 832, 833 (Utah 1994). If doubt or ambiguity exist, the court should analyze the entire act and ““Harmonize its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose.”” *Beynon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge #1743*, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993), quoting *Osuala v. Aetna Life & Casualty*, 608 P.2d 242, 243 (Utah 1980). “Whenever possible, statutes should be construed so that no portion is superfluous.” *Id* at 243, fn. 20. Finally, the Court has no power to rewrite a statute to make it conform to an intention not expressed in the statute. *Neel v. State*, 889 P.2d 922, 926 (Utah 1995). In this case, the trial court failed to apply the plain meaning of the statute or harmonize its interpretation with the entire act, which results in rendering the statutory definition of “wholesaler” superfluous.

B. Wilson Supply Is a Wholesaler Within the Plain Meaning of the Act:

While some states have various laws requiring a manufacturer or wholesaler to repurchase goods upon termination of a retail sales agreement, Utah appears to be the only state that has carefully defined the term “wholesaler” as it relates to “retail dealer.” The relevant code section states:

(7) “Wholesaler” as an entity’s business or as the context requires may mean:

(b) a dealer, as defined in Subsection (1), who in addition to retailing distributes equipment at the wholesale level.

(Emphasis added). Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(7)(b) (as amended, 1995). The underlined portion, “who in addition to retailing distributes equipment at the wholesale level” was added by the Utah Legislature in 1995 to more clearly exclude wholesalers from taking advantage of the protections afforded retail dealers under the statute. The 1995 amendment shows the Legislature’s intent to clarify that retail dealers who are also engaged in wholesale activities must be treated as wholesalers and cannot enforce a right to repurchase against a manufacturer. The plain meaning of the statute requires a court to treat a retail dealer as a “wholesaler” if the dealer generally, as a business entity, engages in distributing any amount of lawn and garden equipment at the wholesale level. By operation of law, a retail dealer who distributes lawn and garden equipment at the wholesale level is defined as a “wholesaler” and should not be referred to as a retail dealer for purposes of requiring a manufacturer to repurchase equipment.

In this case, WILSON SUPPLY, as an entity, alleges in its Complaint and provided sworn testimony that it was in the business of distributing lawn and garden equipment at the wholesale level in addition to retailing (R. 002, ¶ 6; R. 123, ¶ 10; and Appendix B, R. 184, ¶ 7). WILSON SUPPLY further provided sworn testimony that it distributed a “portion of the Fradan inventory at the wholesale level.” (R. 123, ¶ 10 and Appendix B, R. 184, ¶ 7). Moreover, WILSON SUPPLY alleges in its complaint that it entered into an agreement with FRADAN in which “Wilson agreed to sell at retail, and or distribute at the wholesale level,

those items supplied to it by Fradan as a manufacturer.” (R. 002, ¶ 8). Furthermore, WILSON SUPPLY represented itself as a wholesale distributor on its own letterhead, in the *Dunn & Bradstreet* listing, and in the Salt Lake City Yellow Pages (R. 167; R. 193, ¶ 3; and R. 202). Finally, all correspondence between WILSON and FRADAN during the business relationship was either from WILSON SUPPLY addressed to FRADAN or from FRADAN addressed to WILSON (R. 33, 35, 133, 135, 137, 138, 140, 142, 144-159, 167, and 204), including the initial correspondence where WILSON requested prompt shipment to its wholesale warehouse (Appendix D, Exhibit 8). The only document sent in the name of Pro Power (WILSON’s retail dealer) to FRADAN was sent after the business relationship had terminated between WILSON and FRADAN (R. 170). To fall within the plain wording of the statutory definition, WILSON SUPPLY merely needed to engage in some, but not all or even mostly, distributing at the wholesale level to be treated as a “wholesaler.” The statute defines wholesaler not merely as a wholesaler that happens to engage in some retail sales, but as “a dealerwho in addition to retailing distributes equipment at the wholesale level.” (Emphasis added) Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(7)(b) (as amended, 1995). It matters not under the statute whether WILSON SUPPLY actually distributed FRADAN equipment, although Brett Wilson admitted they did (See Appendix B, R. 184, ¶ 7 and Appendix D, Exhibit 1). Since WILSON SUPPLY admitted it has been a wholesale distributor since 1935 and continued to act as a wholesaler of lawn and garden equipment during the relevant time, it was an error in law for the court to conclude WILSON was a

retail dealer for purposes of Utah's repurchase law. The plain wording of the statute required the court to refer to WILSON as a wholesaler for purposes of the right of a retail dealer to have a manufacturer or wholesaler repurchase its inventory. It was error in law for the court not to enter summary judgment for FRADAN based solely upon the affidavit of Brett Wilson, president of WILSON SUPPLY (See Appendix B, ¶ 7)

C. A Manufacturer Is Never Required to Repurchase from a Wholesaler:

After deciding WILSON's business was defined as a "Wholesaler" under the statute, it then should have applied the plain meaning of Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2(1) and concluded that a wholesaler has no right to demand repurchase of its equipment from a manufacturer. The statute states:

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