2000

Wilson Supply, Inc. dba Pro Power Equipment Co. v. Fradan Manufacturing Corp. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After reviewing the pleadings on file, relevant documents, affidavits and conducting an evidentiary hearing, including taking live testimony from the principals of the disputing parties, the District Court found that Wilson was a Dealer who retailed the Fradan Inventory and as such, Fradan Manufacturing had a duty to repurchase the Fradan Inventory pursuant to U.C.A. § 13-14a-2. This statute expressly provides:

Upon termination of all sales agreements in which the dealer has agreed to offer the products of the manufacturer or wholesaler for retail sale and to stock wholegoods and parts inventories as may or may not be required by the manufacturer or wholesaler, the retailer is entitled to payment or credit from the manufacturer or wholesaler for all new and unsold wholegoods and parts inventories held by the dealer on the date the agreement was terminated.

(See, Appendix B).

Fradan Manufacturing's allegation that its duty to repurchase is somehow obviated by the fact that Wilson sold substantially all of its assets in 1999 is without merit. The "retailer is entitled to payment or credit from the manufacturer or wholesaler for all new and unsold wholegoods and parts inventories held by the dealer *on the date the agreement was terminated.*" U.C.A. § 13-14a-2. (emphasis added). Wilson terminated its agreement in October, 1997 and tried unsuccessfully for over a year to get Fradan Manufacturing to

comply with its duty to repurchase. Wilson has been in possession of the Fradan Inventory even following the sale of other assets of Wilson in 1999.

Finally, Wilson takes exception to Fradan Manufacturing's allegations that: (1) the District Court Judge "displayed usually [s.i.c.] hostility and anger towards FRADAN," (2) Wilson's attorney "urged the court to entertain a 'home-state bias' to sway the judge," (Appellant's Brief at p. 9) and (3) the District Court acted in a "hasty, hostile and biased" fashion towards Fradan Manufacturing. The record does not support these inflammatory allegations.

ARGUMENT

I. BASED ON AMPLE EVIDENCE, THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT WILSON WAS A DEALER PURSUANT TO U.C.A. § 13-14a-1(1)(a).

The District Court correctly ruled, based on ample evidence, that Wilson was a Dealer who retailed yard and garden equipment. Based on this ruling, Wilson was entitled, under Utah's "buy back" law, to require that Fradan Manufacturing repurchase the Fradan Inventory at the termination of the parties' agreement. Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-2.

A. Wilson Clearly Fits Within the Statutory Definition of Dealer.

The statute defines retailer or dealer as “any person, firm, or corporation engaged in the business of selling and retailing farm equipment, implements, utility and light industrial equipment, attachments, or repair parts, and includes retailers of yard and garden equipment not primarily engaged in the farm equipment business.” Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(a) (1999). The statute specifically identifies two distinct groups which are excluded from the definition of dealer: (1) persons engaged in the business of sales and service of heavy industrial or construction equipment, or (2) a person, firm, or corporation who serves as the dealer for a membership group purchasing program. Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-1(1)(b) (1999). Fradan Manufacturing has conceded that Wilson does not fall within either excluded category.

Moreover, Fradan Manufacturing admits that Wilson sold the Fradan Inventory, consisting of yard and garden equipment, at the retail level. (Appendix A at 40). Clearly, Wilson falls squarely within the definition of a “dealer.”

B. Even if Wilson Made Limited Wholesale Sales to an Affiliate, Such Does Not Preclude it From Being a Dealer of the Fradan Inventory.

Fradan Manufacturing’s assertion that Wilson cannot be a Dealer since it engaged in a wholesale business is baseless. First, Wilson was not a wholesaler of Fradan

Inventory. Fradan Manufacturing provided no evidence to the District Court that Wilson operated a wholesale business with Fradan Inventory. With the single limited exception of a few transactions with Wilson's affiliate, Pro Power of Idaho Falls, Wilson made no wholesale sales of the Fradan Inventory to any other third parties.

Second, the limited wholesale sales made by Wilson to its affiliate would not preclude Wilson from the definition of a dealer. By analogy, many home improvement stores offer contractors special reduced pricing. Would Fradan Manufacturing argue that Home Depot or Anderson Lumber are not retail dealers simply because they sale to contractors who resale the product?

Third, assuming arguendo that Wilson made wholesale sales, such does not preclude Wilson from being a dealer under the statute. As set forth above, only two groups are expressly excluded from the definition of dealer. Those business entities that retail products but also distribute "at the wholesale level"(13-14a1.(7)) are not excluded in the statutory definition of dealer. Wilson does not fall within either of the excluded groups.

In a failed attempt to claim Wilson is a wholesaler, Fradan Manufacturing cites the statutory definition of "wholesaler" to include "a dealer, as defined in Subsection (1), who

in addition to retailing distributes equipment at the wholesale level.” (Appellant’s Brief at pp. 11-12). However, this argument in fact supports Wilson’s argument that it is a Dealer.

As stated by Fradan Manufacturing, unambiguous statutes should be given their plain meaning. Statutes should not be rewritten by the courts and, if ambiguity is present, the statute should be harmonized with the legislature’s intent.¹ (Appellant’s Brief pp. 11-15). However, Fradan Manufacturing simply ignores the portion of that definition that provides a wholesaler *may* include a dealer.

Wilson concedes that the statute provides that the some dealers may fall within the definition of wholesaler. However, the statute is drafted using the permissive “may.” See

¹The only cases that Fradan Manufacturing cites to in the Argument section of its Appellant Brief deal exclusively with statutory construction. Specifically, Fradan Manufacturing cites Matrix Funding Corp. v. Auditing Division of the Utah State Tax Commission, 868 P.2d 832, 833 (Utah 1994) (holding that a court must “examine the statute’s plain language and resort to other methods of statutory interpretation only if the language is ambiguous.”); Beynon v. St. George-Dixie Lodge # 1743, 854 P.2d 513, 518 (Utah 1993) (holding that when a statute is ambiguous the court must “harmonize its provisions in accordance with the legislative intent and purpose); and Neel v. State, 889 P.2d 922, 926 (Utah 1995) (stating the courts do not have the “power to rewrite a statute to make it conform to an intention not expressed.”). Wilson acknowledges that these cases are appropriate interpretations of the law but argues that Fradan Manufacturing fails to follow these assertions by ignoring the plain meaning of the statutes in question.

Anderson v. Yungkau, 329 U.S. 482, 485 (1947) (stating that the term “may” generally is to be given a permissive meaning and “shall” generally denotes a mandatory meaning). In other words, a dealer which engages in wholesale sales may or may not be included in the definition of wholesaler. Clearly, if the Utah Legislature had intended to include all dealers which engage in wholesale sales in the definition of wholesaler, it simply had to state any dealer which engages in wholesale sales “shall” be considered a wholesaler.

Wilson’s interpretation of this statute is further supported by the statutes’ definition of “dealer.” As set forth above, the Utah Legislature clearly knew how to include or exclude particular groups within specific definitions as is evidenced by expressly excluding two groups of sellers from the definition of dealer. It would be absurd to interpret the statute so narrowly as to mean that an entity that sold even one piece of equipment at the wholesale level would be precluded from availing themselves of the buy-back protections afforded to a dealer.

C. There was Ample and Undisputed Testimony that Wilson Retailed the Fradan Inventory, Which Qualifies Wilson to be Considered a Dealer Under the Act.

Fradan Manufacturing did not dispute at the District Court that Wilson Supply acted as a retailer of the Fradan Inventory. (Appendix A, p. 40). The evidence before the District Court was that Wilson was, at all relevant times, a retailer of several lines of yard

and garden equipment, including the Fradan Inventory line, prior to Wilson's termination of the sales agreement.

As set forth above, the Act provides that a Dealer is any person, firm or corporation engaged in the business of selling and retailing yard and garden equipment. Because Wilson does not fall within the exceptions as described in § 13-14a-1(b), the statute should not be read so narrowly to create additional exceptions that were not considered nor promulgated by the legislature.

Based on the evidence presented, the District Court expressly found that from its initiation, the business relationship between Fradan Manufacturing and Wilson was that of manufacturer and dealer, respectively. (Appendix A, p. 85). Such evidence included, without limitation: (i) Wilson retailed its product directly through its three stores to various commercial end users such as churches, school districts and individual commercial yard maintenance workers (Appendix A, pp. 85-86), (ii) Cantrell Distributing was the wholesale distributor for Fradan Manufacturing in Utah (Appendix A, p. 82), (iii) Cantrell continued to sell product in the state of Utah as Fradan Manufacturing's representative on a wholesale basis both during and after the time Fradan sold product to Wilson for Wilson to sell on a retail basis (Appendix A, p. 83), and (iv) Fradan Manufacturing, as manufacturer of the Fradan Inventory, entered into three separate contracts with each of

Wilson's retail outlets, Pro Power in Idaho, Pro Power in Utah and Pro Power in Colorado (Appendix A, pp. 82, 85). Based upon this ample evidence, the District Court concluded that Wilson's sale of Fradan Inventory, through Wilson's wholly owned dba Pro Power, were final retail sales to ultimate end users. (Appendix, pp. 82; 86). This factual finding was reached by the District Court only after extensive briefing by the parties and after both parties had had an opportunity to present testimony and evidence. Consequently, there is no basis for Fradan Manufacturing's claim that the District Court abused its discretion in reaching the conclusion that Wilson was a dealer.

D. The Statute Does Not Exclude A Wholesaler From the Buy-Back Provisions. Public Policy Supports The Buy-Back Provisions Being Extended to Wholesalers.

While there is no express language requiring a manufacturer to repurchase products from a wholesaler, public policy supports finding such provisions extend to wholesalers. The statute specifically provides that "[i]n the case of a wholesaler who discontinues representing a line for any reason, the manufacturer of that line bears the responsibility to repurchase." Utah Code Ann. § 13-14a-9. The policy behind the "buy-back" provisions is to prevent downline entities, generally dealers, from being left with product that it either cannot, or no longer desires, to sell. This policy is equally applicable to a wholesaler who no longer wishes to market a particular line of product for whatever reason. Wilson

elected to terminate its agreements with Fradan Manufacturing because it no longer wished to inventory and sell its product. If Wilson were a wholesaler (which it is not), Wilson would be left with undesirable and unsaleable Fradan Inventory. Clearly, this is the very condition that the legislature was intending to protect against when it passed the Act.

Moreover, the legislature specifically approved requiring the manufacturer to repurchase its product when such product was no longer wanted. Under the statute, when a wholesaler discontinues representing a particular product line, the legislature specifically required the manufacturer to repurchase the dealers' product. It is important to note that under this condition, the statute requires the manufacturer to repurchase this product, not the wholesaler. This suggests that the legislature did not wish to leave the wholesaler with undesirable product when it elected to terminate its relationship with the manufacturer. Therefore, the public policy of the statute is furthered when the manufacturer is required to repurchase its product from a wholesaler wishing to terminate its relationship with the manufacturer.

II. THE 1999 SALE OF ASSETS OF WILSON TO A THIRD PARTY DOES NOT OBVIATE FRADAN MANUFACTURING'S DUTY TO REPURCHASE UNDER THE ACT.

Fradan Manufacturing's argument that Wilson's sale of substantially all of its assets in 1999, extinguished Wilson's "buy-back" claim is meritless. Fradan Manufacturing makes this baseless argument without presenting any law to support it.

The Act provides that the "buy-back" claim arises at the time of the termination of the sales agreement. Specifically, the "retailer is entitled to payment or credit from the manufacturer or wholesaler for all new and unsold wholegoods and parts inventories held by the dealer *on the date the agreement was terminated.*" U.C.A. § 13-14a-2 (1999) (emphasis added).

Wilson terminated its agreement with Fradan Manufacturing in October, 1997. Since that time, Wilson has been in possession of the Fradan Inventory. The Fradan Inventory was expressly excluded from the sale of assets by Wilson in 1999. As such, Fradan Manufacturing's claim that Wilson is now without standing to assert its buy-back claim is meritless.

III. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PENALIZE FRADAN OVER FRADAN MANUFACTURING'S REFUSAL TO PROVIDE DISCOVERY.

Fradan Manufacturing argues that the District Court abused its discretion by “unfairly penalizing Fradan regarding an unlitigated discovery dispute” and hence based its decision upon “hasty and cryptic findings of fact.” (Appellant’s Brief, pp. 21-22). Such allegations are without merit.

A purpose of the March 24, 2000 hearing was to allow both parties to argue the discovery dispute that had arisen from Fradan Manufacturing’s refusal to provide Wilson with pricing information. Hence, Fradan Manufacturing’s claim that the discovery dispute was unlitigated is not correct.

Fradan Manufacturing’s argument that the District Court unfairly penalized it over a discovery dispute appears to be based upon the fact that the District Court observed that “Fradan has refused to provide in discovery the pricing information to know whether they were selling at a wholesale price, which would be considered to be a lower price than to a retailer price to Wilson Supply.” (Appendix A, p. 82). This statement does not support a conclusion that the District Court was seeking to penalize Fradan Manufacturing. Instead, the District Court was simply making an observation that by its own actions, Fradan Manufacturing had precluded the Court and the parties from having an opportunity to

review potentially relevant evidence. The District Court held a hearing on Fradan Manufacturing's Motion for Protective Order relating to discovery. As such, there is nothing unlitigated about the discovery dispute whatsoever, and such does not provide a basis for reversal in this appeal.

In addition, as the record of the case demonstrates, the District Court's findings of fact were not cryptic but rather were detailed and deliberate. They encompassed five pages of the trial transcript and were made by the Court only after conducting two separate and extensive hearings at which several witnesses gave testimony. (Appendix A, pp. 82-86). Moreover, Fradan Manufacturing had ample opportunity to object to the form and content of the final order entered by the District Court. It did not, but instead approved it as to form and content. (R. 263-265). In short, Fradan Manufacturing's assertion that the District Court acted in a hasty or punitive fashion due to an unlitigated discovery dispute is baseless.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PENALIZE FRADAN MANUFACTURING BY AFFORDING WILSON A "HOME-STATE BIAS."

Fradan Manufacturing' argument that the District Court ruled against it based on alleged "home-state bias" is baseless. (Appellant's Brief p. 27). Fradan Manufacturing

suggests that Wilson effectively persuaded the District Court to find in its favor based on “local cultural factors.” Id.

Fradan Manufacturing argues that the District Court became biased when the attorney for Wilson stated that Fradan Manufacturing, a New York manufacturer, had declined to comply with applicable Utah statutes. (Appellant’s Brief p. 27; and R. 280, p. 12, lines 5-9). Fradan Manufacturing cites the following statements as alleged support of its argument:

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